IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

BRINKER RESTAURANT CORPORATION, BRINKER
INTERNATIONAL, INC., and BRINKER INTERNATIONAL PAYROLL
COMPANY, L.P.

Petitioners,

VS.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, Respondent.

JAN 2 2 2009

ADAM HOHNBAUM, ILLYA HAASE, ROMEO OSORIO, AMANDA JUNE RADER and SANTANA ALVARADO, Real Parties in Interest.

Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D049331, Granting a Writ of Mandate to the Superior Court for the County of San Diego, Case No. GIC834348

Honorable Patricia A.Y. Cowett, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case presents the following issues:

- 1. <u>Meal Period Compliance Issue</u>: Under the Labor Code (§§226.7 and 512) and Industrial Welfare Commission ("IWC") Wage Orders (¶11), 1 must an employer actually relieve workers of all duty so they can take their statutorily-mandated meal periods, as held in *Cicairos v. Summit Logistics, Inc.*, 133 Cal.App.4th 949 (2005), review & depub. denied, no. S139377 (01/18/06)? Or may employers comply simply by making meal periods "available," as held in *Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court (Hohnbaum)*, 165 Cal.App.4th 25 (Jul. 22, 2008)?
- 2. <u>Meal Period Timing Issue</u>: Do the Labor Code (§§226.7 and 512) and Wage Orders (¶11) impose a timing requirement for meal periods? Or can employers provide a meal period at *any* time during a shift of up to ten hours without becoming liable for an extra hour of pay under section 226.7(b), as held in *Brinker*?

Wage Order 5-2001, which governs this case, is codified at 8 Cal. Code Regs. §11050. All references to "Wage Orders" are to Wage Order 5 unless otherwise specified. All statutory references are to the Labor Code unless otherwise specified.

[&]quot;Pet." refers to Brinker's writ petition filed below on September 1, 2006. "PE" refers to Brinker's exhibits in support of its writ petition. "RJN" refers to plaintiffs' request for judicial notice filed below on February 2, 2007. "Slip op." refers to the Court of Appeal's opinion filed on July 22, 2008. "MJN" refers to the motion for judicial notice filed on January 20, 2009, concurrently with this brief.

- 3. Rest Break Compliance Issue: Under the Labor Code (§226.7) and Wage Orders (¶12), which require ten minutes' rest time "per four (4) hours or major fraction thereof," must employers provide a ten-minute rest break to employees who work between two and six hours, a second ten-minute rest break to employees who work more than six hours and up to ten, a third ten-minute rest break to employees who work more than ten hours and up to fourteen (etc.), as stated in DLSE Op.Ltr. 1999.02.16? Or may an employer compel employees to work an eighthour shift with only a single rest break, as held in Brinker?
- 4. <u>Rest Break Timing Issue</u>: Under the Labor Code (§226.7) and Wage Orders (¶12), may employers withhold the first rest break until after the first meal period, as held in *Brinker*?
- 5. <u>Survey and Statistical Evidence Issue</u>: May trial courts accept expert survey and statistical evidence as a method of proving meal period, rest break, and/or "off-the-clock" claims on a classwide basis?
- 6. <u>Standard of Appellate Review Issue</u>: When an appellate court reviews an order granting class certification, does the appellate court prejudicially err by: (a) deciding issues not enmeshed with the class certification requirements; (b) applying newly-announced legal standards to the facts, then reversing the class certification order with prejudice, instead of remanding for the certification proponent to attempt to meet the new standards, and for the trial court to apply the new standards to the facts in the first instance;

or (c) reweighing the evidence instead of reviewing the trial court's predominance finding under the substantial evidence standard of review?

Petition for Review filed Aug. 29, 2008 at 1-3.

II. INTRODUCTION

This case arises at the crossing point of two of this Court's key precedents—Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc., 40 Cal.4th 1094 (2007), in which the Court construed the "premium wage" remedy enacted in 2000 for meal period and rest break violations—and Sav-on Drug Stores, Inc. v. Superior Court, 34 Cal.4th 319 (2004), in which the Court announced principles for lower courts to employ in assessing whether common questions predominate in wage and hour cases for class certification purposes.

Plaintiffs Adam Hohnbaum, Illya Haase, Romeo Osorio, Amanda June Rader, and Santana Alvarado ("plaintiffs") are hourly non-exempt workers for Brinker Restaurant Corporation, operator of restaurant chains including Chili's and the Macaroni Grill ("Brinker"). In 2004, they sued Brinker for failure to comply with California law governing meal periods, rest breaks, and off-the-clock work. In 2006, after considering an extensive evidentiary record, the trial court granted class certification.

Brinker filed a petition seeking interlocutory appellate review, which the Court of Appeal (Fourth Appellate District, Division One) granted. The Court of Appeal reversed the class certification order, and in so doing, decided four critical questions of law in a manner that not only contravenes the plain language of the governing IWC Wage Orders and Labor Code provisions, but also upends vital protections that

California workers have enjoyed for decades. The Court of Appeal's holdings present a very real threat to the health and safety of not only the impacted workers, but also the public—in other words, everyone whom our meal period and rest break laws were intended to protect.

The first critical question is whether, under the Labor Code and Wage Orders, an employer must actually relieve workers of all duty so they can take their non-waivable, statutorily-mandated meal periods, as held in *Cicairos v. Summit Logistics, Inc.*, 133 Cal.App.4th 949 (2005), review & depub. denied, no. S139377 (2006), or whether employers may comply simply by making meal periods "available," as the Court of Appeal held in this case.

The answer can be found through a careful review of the plain language of the Wage Orders and their adoption history dating back to the 1930s. For decades, the Wage Orders have imposed a mandatory compliance standard ("no employer shall employ") for meal periods, and a permissive compliance standard ("authorize and permit") for rest breaks. When the Legislature enacted Labor Code sections 226.7, 512, and 516, it intended to codify, not relax, the mandatory meal period compliance standard, thus preserving the distinction between meal periods and rest breaks. *All* of the legislative and regulatory history points inexorably to this conclusion. Yet the Court of Appeal panel considered none of that history, focusing instead on a dictionary definition of a single word—"provide."

The second critical question is whether the Labor Code and Wage Orders impose a *timing* requirement for meal periods, or whether employers may impose an "early lunching" schedule that requires people to work up to ten hours straight without a meal. Here, too, the Court of Appeal chose the less protective option. Once again, however,

the fifty-year history of the Wage Orders' language demonstrates beyond any doubt that employers may not schedule work periods longer than five hours without a meal.

Instead of enforcing this longstanding rule, the Court of Appeal determined that Labor Code sections 512 and 516 annulled it in favor of a dramatically weaker one—even though the legislative history of both statutes confirms that the Legislature intended to *codify* the Wage Orders' existing protections, thereby shielding workers from then-recent regulatory efforts to impair those protections.

What's more, the Court of Appeal ignored this Court's settled precedent, *Industrial Welfare Commission v. Superior Court*, 27 Cal.3d 690 (1980), which acknowledged and enforced the IWC's power to impose "more restrictive" compliance standards than the Labor Code. This power has been unquestioned for decades, and nothing in either section 512 or section 516 evinces any intent to eliminate it.

The two other questions relate to rest breaks.

May employers refuse to provide rest breaks until after employees have worked four full hours—even though the Wage Orders require "ten (10) minutes net rest time per four (4) hours *or major fraction thereof*"? The Court of Appeal said yes, contrary to Division of Labor Standards Enforcement ("DLSE") enforcement policy of 60 years' standing. This means that an employee working an eight-hour shift would accrue just one rest break, not two—a revolutionary reinterpretation of California's rest break protections. Once again, a careful look at the history of the Wage Orders' language—which has been unchanged for over sixty years—confirms unequivocally that the Court of Appeal's interpretation was wrong.

Finally, may employers require workers to postpone their rest breaks until after the first meal period—pushing the meal period to the beginning of the work period and the rest time to the end—even though the DLSE believes that "the first rest period should come sometime before the meal break"? The Court of Appeal's contrary holding topples this well-established and commonsense interpretation, reducing the rest break requirement to a charade.

After ruling on these legal questions, the Court of Appeal reversed the entire class certification order with prejudice. The core reason for the reversal was the Court's meal period compliance holding—that meal periods need only be "made available" to workers who may then choose to "decline" them. According to the Court, individualized questions surrounding the reason for each missed meal period would overwhelm any common ones.

But the Court of Appeal failed to perceive that any such individualized questions would be irrelevant to plaintiffs' other claims. Common questions predominated on plaintiffs' claims for meal period timing, rest break compliance, and rest break timing. Brinker's uniform policy did not even "make" compliant meal periods or rest breaks "available." Therefore, there was nothing for the workers to "decline," so no individualized issues. Brinker's common policy, coupled with its corporate records of workers' shift lengths (which the Wage Orders require every employer to keep), are all the proof needed to establish the violations. The class certification order should have been affirmed respecting these claims.

The Court of Appeal then disregarded plaintiffs' extensive evidentiary showing that, even applying a "make available" compliance

standard, common questions predominated on plaintiffs' remaining claims for meal period, rest break, and off-the-clock violations.

This evidentiary showing included declarations documenting Brinker's pervasive understaffing—the root cause of widespread meal period and rest break violations for waitstaff, bartenders, cooks, and kitchen personnel. Plaintiffs presented testimony of Brinker executives establishing Brinker's uniform meal period and rest break policies and its centralized computer system tracking each work period and shift. And, to shore this up, they proffered expert survey and statistical evidence as a way to manage any remaining individualized issues. Through this evidence, plaintiffs established a pervasive pattern and practice of common violations—companywide.

The trial court accepted this evidentiary showing, and granted class certification, but the Court of Appeal reversed—in an opinion that re-weighs the evidence and finds it insufficient, as a matter of law, to ever support class certification in a meal period, rest break, or off-the-clock case. In so holding, the Court of Appeal contravened the most basic principles enunciated in *Sav-on*.

Sav-on prohibits appellate courts from re-weighing the evidence of predominance—but that is precisely what the Court of Appeal did. Sav-on also expressly approves expert survey and statistical evidence as a method of common proof in wage and hour cases—yet the Court of Appeal summarily rejected that evidence. And Sav-on bars procedures that would shift the burden of proof at the class certification stage. Under Sav-on, plaintiffs are not required to disprove all of the defendant's affirmative defenses. Yet that is what the Court of Appeal, in effect, required in this case, and found lacking.

The Court of Appeal's judgment should be reversed and the class certification order reinstated. At stake is the public policy—recognized in *Sav-on* and *Gentry v. Superior Court*, 42 Cal.4th 44 (2007)—supporting the rights of workers to seek redress against their employers for chronic violations of California's minimum workplace regulatory standards and to jointly prosecute such claims through the class action vehicle. "[R]etaliation against employees for asserting statutory rights under the Labor Code is widespread." *Gentry*, 42 Cal.4th at 461. Workers are often "unaware that their legal rights have been violated." *Id.* The class action device is often the only way to deter employers who fail to maintain minimum workplace standards and to provide redress for injured workers.

The Court of Appeal misinterpreted every legal question presented to it—then misapplied basic rules governing appellate review of class certification orders. Plaintiffs respectfully ask this Court to reverse the judgment and reinstate the certification order.

III. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. The Meal Period, Rest Break, and Off-The-Clock Claims

In 2000, the DLSE began investigating Brinker for meal and rest break violations involving its hourly restaurant employees. 1PE197:16-19; 17PE4789-4804; 22PE6138-6139. In 2002, after the DLSE filed suit, Brinker paid a monetary settlement (covering violations from October 1999 through December 2001) and agreed to a court-ordered injunction to ensure its compliance with California meal and rest break laws. Pet. ¶7; 1PE197:19-28; 2PE375:7-20; 17 PE 4789-4804; 18PE4840-4844.

In August 2004, this lawsuit was filed on behalf of current and former non-exempt Brinker employees whom the DLSE settlement did not cover. 1PE15-28, 1PE179-94.

Plaintiffs contend that Brinker violates sections 226.7 and 512 and Wage Order 5 at each of its restaurant "concepts," including but not limited to Chili's, Macaroni Grill, Maggiano's, and Corner Bakery Café, in the following six ways:

Meal Period Violations

- (1) Brinker pervasively fails to relieve employees of all duty so that they can take the meal periods that sections 226.7, 512 and Wage Order 5 require. Pervasive understaffing is the root cause of these violations. *See*, *e.g.*, 1 PE 112: 17-20, 126:17-20, 134:16-18, 153:15-20, 158:11-13 [Chili's]; 130:11-14, 148:18-22, 166:16-20, 145:8-12, 145:10-12 [Maggiano's]; 140:24-26 [Corner Bakery Café].²
- (2) Brinker pervasively imposes an "early lunching" policy that requires employees to take meal periods either before beginning work or within the first two hours after arriving. Then, Brinker requires these employees to continue working more than five hours, and sometimes up to nine hours straight, without authorizing any further meal

Accord: 126:17-20 ["I was regularly denied a 30 minute uninterrupted off-duty meal break. No one was scheduled or available to cover my tables during meal breaks."], 134:16-18 ["I was regularly denied a 30 minute uninterrupted off-duty meal period. The restaurant was always busy and I do not recall being scheduled for a meal period during my shift."], 166:16-20 ["Often times, I would be required to clock out for a meal period but continue serving my tables because there were no other employees available to cover my job duties."], 145:10-12 ["I rarely, if ever, received an uninterrupted meal break."].

period. See, e.g., 1PE:112:18-19, 130:14-15, 132:16-18, 158:15, 168:21-25 [Chili's]; 148:21-22 [Macaroni Grill]; 145:9 [Maggiano's]; 140:17-18 [Corner Bakery Café]; 2PE456:5-20 [policy]. Brinker neither limits shift lengths to five hours after the early meal periods nor pays employees an hour of pay for the timing violation. See generally 1PE89-171 (class member declarations); 1 PE 213 11-17 (Brinker has paid no premium wages to any employees).³

evidence]; [summarizing 1RJN7211:19-7212:5 Accord: 1PE112:18-19 ["When I do get a meal break, I have to take it when the manager tells me to, which is usually within one hour after I begin my shift."], 130:14-15 ["When I did receive a meal break, I usually took this meal break within the first hour after I began my shift or one hour before the end of my shift"], 132:16-18 ["I was typically required to take my 30-minute meal period during the first hour of my scheduled shift"], 140:17-18 ["when I received a meal break, I usually had to take this meal break within the first hour after I began my shift"], 145:9-10 ["The schedule said that we were to take our meal break one hour after arriving at work"], 148:21-22 ["If I do get a meal period, I am required to take my meal break within the first hour I am at work], 158:15 ["the meal break was typically given within your first hour of work"], 160:21-22 ["I received my meal breaks within the first hour of work"], 163:25-27 ["I typically receive a thirty minute meal period about one hour after I arrive at work"]; 168:21-25 ["(I)f I was permitted to take a meal period, it was typically during the first hour of my scheduled shift or at the very end of my scheduled shift], 171:8-9 ["I would be told to take my meal break one hour after arriving at work"]; 21PE5913:22-5914:11 ["If they're scheduled to work more than five hours, they [Brinker] can ask them to take their meal period" after the first hour worked]; 21 PE 5770 ["Violations found: 1. Meal periods were not provided for every five (5) hours worked. Some were either taken in the first hour or greater than 5.25 hours later. Some even was [sic] taken after 6.5 hours later. 2. Some of the meal periods were less than 30 minutes, like 17, 19, 20, 26 minutes; 3. No second meal periods for the total hours worked more than five (5) hours after the first meal period..."].

Rest Break Violations

Workers to take the rest breaks required by section 226.7 and Wage Order 5—again due primarily to widespread understaffing, which prevents workers from taking any breaks. See, e.g., 1 PE 122:13-16, 124:11-14, 126:10-16, 132:10-14, 132:21-22, 134:11-13, 153:15-20, 168:13-16 [Chili's]; 130:7-8, 145:7 [Maggiano's]; 148:12-15, 158:11-13, 166:11-13 [Macaroni Grill]; 140:8-12 [Corner Bakery Café]; 21PE5770 [DLSE Audit Via Survey].

Accord: 1 PE 122:13-16 ["I was not authorized or permitted to take a rest break due to high customer volume and short-staffing. There is an insufficient number of employees to cover the tables and allow employees to take rest breaks."], 126:10-16 ["I was routinely denied a ten-minute uninterrupted off-duty rest break. In fact, I was typically required to work through my rest break because no one was available to cover my tables. Tables must be covered because customers could not be left without service. The restaurant was always very busy. As a result, I could not take a ten-minute rest period for every four hours worked."], 130:7-8 [" I never received an uninterrupted 10 minute rest break for every four hours worked. I was told that is was too busy to take a break."], 132:10-14, 21-22 ["There is an insufficient number of cooks to prepare the food and allow employees to take rest breaks."], 134:11-13 ["The restaurant was always very busy, and as a result, I could not take a 10 minute rest period for every four hours worked.], 145:7 ["I do not recall ever receiving a rest period."], 148:12-15 ["I am routinely unable to take a ten-minute rest break for every four hours worked because there are no available servers to cover my assigned tables."], 158:11-13 ["I was told that Chili's is a fast pace restaurant and you will work from the time you clock-in until the time you clockout."], 168:13-16 ["I was not always permitted to take a rest break due to high customer volume and short staffing. There is an insufficient number of servers to cover my tables in order for me to take an uninterrupted rest break."], 21 PE 5770 ["Violations found: ... 2. No Rest Periods."].

- break until after four *full* hours of work, instead of every "four (4) hours *or major fraction* thereof." *See*, *e.g.*, 1PE122:13-16, 124:11-14 [Chili's]; 138:10-13 [Macaroni Grill]; 134:7 [Maggiano's]; 140:8-12 [Corner Bakery Café]; 21PE5913:1-8, 21PE5914:1-5915:11 [policy].
- (5) For workers required to take meal periods either before beginning work or within the first two hours after arriving, Brinker fails to "authorize and permit" a rest break before the first meal period. 21PE5913:18-5915:11.

Off-the-Clock Violation

(6) Brinker pervasively requires "off-the-clock" work during meal periods because workers are pervasively interrupted while on break. See, e.g., 1 PE 112:18-20, 126:18-20, 153:18-20, 168:21-24 [Chili's]; 130:17-18, 149:1-5, 166:16-19 [Mac. Grill], 136:21-23 [Corner Bakery Café]. The "off-the-clock" claim is limited to time worked while clocked out for meal periods. 20PE5665:22-25.

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