S166350

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

SUPREME COURT
FILED
MAY - 1 2009
Frederick K. Onfrich Clerk
Deputy

**BRINKER RESTAURANT CORPORATION, BRINKER
INTERNATIONAL, INC., and BRINKER INTERNATIONAL
PAYROLL COMPANY, L.P.,**

Petitioners,

v.

**SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO,**

Respondent.

**ADAM HOHNBAUM, ILLYA HAASE, ROMEO OSORIO,
AMANDA JUNE RADER and SANTANA ALVARADO,**

Real Parties in Interest.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL,
FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE, CASE NO. D049331,
GRANTING A WRIT OF MANDATE TO THE SUPERIOR COURT
FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO, CASE NO. GIC834348

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

On October 22, 2008, this Court granted review.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY HELD THAT EMPLOYERS NEED ONLY PROVIDE MEAL PERIODS, NOT ENSURE THAT THEY ARE TAKEN.

As succinctly and correctly held by the Court of Appeal, “California law provides that Brinker need only provide meal periods,” not ensure that they are taken. (Slip Op., p. 42.) That the Court of Appeal got it right is shown by the plain language of the governing statutes – Labor Code section 512, which states that an employer may not employ an employee for

specified periods “without *providing* the employee with a meal period,” and Labor Code section 226.7, which imposes an extra hour’s pay if “an employer fails to *provide* an employee” with a required meal period. (Lab. Code, § 512, subd. (a), emphasis added; *id.*, § 226.7, emphasis added.) Neither statute even hints that employers must “*ensure that work stops* for the required thirty minutes.” (OB, p. 28, emphasis added.)

Although such “clear and unambiguous” language is the beginning and end of this Court’s inquiry into the statutes’ meaning (*Murphy, supra*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1103), their history confirms the Legislature’s intent to adopt a statutory system with sufficient flexibility to address the needs of California’s diverse workplaces while at the same time allowing for more specific industry-tailored regulations by the IWC. The IWC also understood this, because after section 512 was enacted, it amended the Wage Order to clarify that employers need only “provide” meal periods to their employees. (Regs., § 11050, subd. (11)(B).)

When presented with the unequivocal statutory language, this Court recognized in *Murphy* that an employer is only liable under section 226.7 when employees are “required to work” through or “forced to forgo” meal periods – *not* when employees voluntarily choose to skip or shorten the breaks they are offered. (*Murphy, supra*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1104.) Without exception, every other appellate and federal court in California to decide the issue has recognized, as the *Brinker* court did, that an employer need only provide meal periods, not ensure that they are taken. This Court should affirm.

A. Under The Plain Language Of Labor Code Sections 226.7 And 512, Employers Have No Obligation To Ensure That Their Employees Take The Meal Periods They Provide.

A court construing a statute “seeks to determine and give effect to the intent of the enacting legislative body” (*People v. Braxton* (2004) 34

Cal.4th 798, 810), and begins by examining the statutory language – “generally the most reliable indicator of legislative intent” (*Fitch v. Select Products Co.* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 812, 818, citations omitted). “The words of the statute should be given their ordinary and usual meaning and should be construed in their statutory context.” (*Ibid.*)

The words of the statutes governing meal periods in California unambiguously obligate employers to provide meal periods to their employees, not to ensure that they are taken. Plaintiffs’ argument that the “answer” to the “provide v. ensure” question “can be found through a careful review of the plain language of the Wage Orders and their adoption history dating back to the 1930s” (OB, p. 4) turns the rules of statutory construction on their head. The answer lies in the plain statutory language of Labor Code sections 226.7 and 512.

1. Labor Code section 226.7

Section 226.7 provides:

- (a) *No employer shall require any employee to work during any meal or rest period mandated by an applicable order of the Industrial Welfare Commission.*
- (b) *If an employer fails to provide an employee a meal period or rest period in accordance with an applicable order of the Industrial Welfare Commission, the employer shall pay the employee one additional hour of pay at the employee’s regular rate of compensation for each work day that the meal or rest period is not provided.*

(Lab. Code, § 226.7, emphasis added.) Section 226.7 thus makes clear that an employer must “*provide* an employee a meal period,” and may not “*require* any employee to work during” it. Noticeably absent is any language compelling an employer to *ensure* that an employee takes every provided meal period notwithstanding the employee’s desire to skip or

shorten it (for example, to work during a period of heavy tipping, or to leave early at the end of the day for a dentist’s appointment, a meeting with a child’s teacher, or for any other personal reason).

a) Plaintiffs’ meritless statutory language arguments

Ignoring section 226.7’s plain language, Plaintiffs argue that the statute simply compels compliance with the relevant Wage Order, which Plaintiffs erroneously contend requires employers to ensure that their employees take all offered meal periods. (OB, pp. 35-44.) From Plaintiffs’ perspective, the word “provide” – used twice in section 226.7 – should not be afforded its “ordinary and usual meaning” (*Fitch, supra*, 36 Cal.4th at p. 818), but rather should be understood as a placeholder – a means of “incorporat[ing] the Wage Orders.” (OB, p. 44.) Plaintiffs are mistaken.

Had the Legislature actually intended to penalize employers for “fail[ing] to *comply*” with the relevant Wage Order, it undoubtedly would have written that requirement into the statute. Section 226.7, however, unambiguously penalizes employers for “fail[ing] to *provide* an employee a meal period,” requiring that they pay an extra hour of wages for each work day that a meal period “is not *provided*.” (Lab. Code, § 226.7, subd. (b), emphasis added.) This Court “presumes the Legislature meant what it said.” (*People v. Robles* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 1106, 1111, citation omitted.)

Plaintiffs’ interpretation not only disregards the word “provide,” it also negates the statute’s first phrase, “no employer shall *require* any employee to work during any meal” (Lab. Code, § 226.7, subd. (a), emphasis added.) Had the Legislature intended to prohibit employers “from *allowing* employees” to work during a meal period, as Plaintiffs insist (OB, p. 38, emphasis added), it would have said so. Indeed, when the Legislature wants employers to refrain from “requiring” or “permitting”

certain employee conduct, it makes its intent clear. Labor Code section 6402, for example, states:

No employer shall require, or permit any employee to go or be in any employment or place of employment which is not safe and healthful.

(Lab. Code, § 6402, emphasis added, cited in OB, p. 39.) Similarly, Labor Code section 90.5 states:

It is the policy of this state to vigorously enforce minimum labor standards in order to ensure that employees are not required or permitted to work under substandard unlawful conditions

(Lab. Code, § 90.5, emphasis added.)

Here, by contrast, section 226.7 simply mandates that “[n]o employer shall *require* any employee to work” during any meal period (Lab. Code, § 226.7, subd. (a), emphasis added), and that language means what it says: An employer may not force an employee to forego a meal period. Those words cannot logically be read to prohibit an employer from *allowing* an employee to skip or shorten an offered meal period.

(*Manufacturers Life Ins. Co. v. Superior Court* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 257, 274 [“In the construction of a statute or instrument, the office of the judge is simply to ascertain and declare what is in terms or in substance contained therein, not to insert what has been omitted, or to omit what has been inserted”].)

b) Plaintiffs’ equally groundless construction of the Wage Order that section 226.7 purportedly incorporated

Even if section 226.7 *did* “expressly incorporate[]” the applicable Wage Order, as Plaintiffs would have it (OB, p. 44), Plaintiffs’ argument still fails because the Wage Order, like section 226.7, penalizes employers

only for “fail[ing] to *provide* an employee a meal period,” not for failing to *ensure* that an employee takes the meal period offered:

(A) No employer shall employ any person for a work period of more than five (5) hours without a meal period of not less than 30 minutes, except that when a work period of not more than six (6) hours will complete the day’s work the meal period may be waived by mutual consent of the employer and the employee. . . .

(B) *If an employer fails to provide an employee a meal period* in accordance with the applicable provisions of this order, the employer shall pay the employee one (1) hour of pay at the employee’s regular rate of compensation for each workday that the meal period is not *provided*.

(Regs., § 11050, subd. (11), emphasis added.)

Plaintiffs argue that the Wage Order’s use of the word “provide” should not be taken at face value, but rather understood as a “shorthand way to refer” to the first paragraph, which states that “[n]o employer shall employ any person for a work period of more than five (5) hours without a meal period” (Regs., § 11050, subd. (11)(A)). (OB, p. 40.) That sentence, however, is entirely consistent with the provide standard established in the following paragraph and in section 226.7. It addresses an employer’s obligation not to employ anyone for more than five hours without *giving* a meal period, and says nothing to indicate that an employer must force its employees to *take* every meal period offered.

Still, Plaintiffs underscore the words “[n]o employer shall employ,” arguing that they “impose a strict, affirmative duty on employers.” (OB, p. 38.) The Wage Order – like section 226.7 – does impose on employers a mandatory obligation to *provide* meal periods at designated intervals, but in no way indicates that employers are also obligated to *ensure* that the provided meal periods are taken. If the Wage Order actually *did* require

employers to “ensure that work stops” during meal periods – as Plaintiffs insist (*id.*, p. 28) – it would sanction employers who “allow[] employees to work” during meal periods (*id.*, p. 38), instead of sanctioning only employers who “fail to provide” them (Regs., § 11050, subd. (11)(B)). The IWC, like the Legislature, must be taken at its word. (*Morillion v. Royal Packing Co.* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 575, 587.)

Indeed, when the IWC wants to “ensure” that employers take specific action, it knows exactly how to do so. The 1932 Wage Order governing the restaurant industry, for example, states:

Every woman and minor shall be entitled to at least one (1) hour for meals; provided, however, that *no woman or minor shall be permitted to return to work in less than one-half (1/2) hour, and provided, further, that no woman or minor shall be permitted to work an excessive number of hours without a meal period.*

(Wage Order 18 (Dec. 4, 1931) [MJN Ex. 11], ¶ 10, emphasis added; see also Wage Order 12 (July 31, 1920) [MJN Ex. 9], ¶ 1 [requiring that employers *ensure* that women and girls are paid at least \$16 a week]; Wage Order 5NS (June 28, 1943) [MJN Ex. 12], ¶ 3(a) [requiring that employers *ensure* that women and children work under conditions that meet specified standards].)

Plaintiffs also attempt to graft onto the Wage Order’s meal period provision a requirement that employers “ensure that work stops” by drawing a “contrast” with the Wage Order’s rest period provision. (OB, p. 37.) Curiously, they argue that the Wage Order’s meal period requirement is “directive,” while the rest period requirement is “permissive.” (*Id.*, p. 40.) Plaintiffs’ position again pays no heed to the Wage Order’s plain language.

First, the Wage Order – like Labor Code section 226.7 – penalizes employers for “fail[ing] to *provide*” a rest *or* a meal period, not for failing

to “ensure” either one. (Regs., § 11050, subds. (11)(B), (12)(B), emphasis added.) If, as Plaintiffs contend, the Wage Order “create[d] two different employer compliance standards for meal periods and rest breaks” (OB, p. 38), it would punish employers who “fail to *ensure*” that their employees take provided meal periods, and employers who “fail[] to *provide*” their employees required rest breaks. It does not – it prohibits only the failure to provide meal and rest periods.

Second, the Wage Order’s provision that “[e]very employer shall authorize and permit all employees to take rest periods” is not, as Plaintiffs claim, “permissive” (OB p. 37, quoting Regs., § 11050, subd. (12)(A), Plaintiffs’ emphasis), but rather imposes a *mandatory* obligation on employers. Although the Wage Order’s meal period provision does not use the phrase “authorize and permit,” the difference is immaterial because *neither* provision creates an employer duty to *ensure* that employees take the breaks available to them. The different language is easily explained by the fact that 10-minute rest periods and 30-minute meal periods necessarily entail different degrees of effort on the employer’s part. While an employer must simply “authorize and permit” brief rest periods, an employer must *make* allowance for the longer meal period. (Slip Op., p. 42 [holding that meal periods must be “*made* available”], emphasis added.)

Third, the fact that employers are required to record meal periods and not rest periods – a point repeatedly emphasized by Plaintiffs (OB, pp. 37, 49) – also has no relevance here. Because unpaid meal periods are off-the-clock, while paid rest periods are considered “hours worked” (Regs., § 11050, subds. (11)(A), (12)(A)), employers must record meal periods to maintain “accurate information with respect to each employee,” including “[t]otal hours worked” (Regs., § 11050, subd. (7)(A)). The difference in the recording requirement is thus only a function of the fact that the clock stops during meal periods and continues during rest periods – it in no way

signals, as Plaintiffs suggest, that one is “mandatory” and the other “permissive.” (OB, p. 40.)

Thus, while Plaintiffs try to make much of the differences between the meal and rest period Wage Order provisions, they are identical in the only way that matters: Neither provision contains language indicating that employers must *force* employees to take the breaks they provide.

2. Labor Code section 512

Section 512, subdivision (a) provides:

An employer may not employ an employee for a work period of more than five hours per day without *providing* the employee with a meal period of not less than 30 minutes, except that if the total work period per day of the employee is no more than six hours, the meal period may be waived by mutual consent of both the employer and employee. An employer may not employ an employee for a work period of more than 10 hours per day without *providing* the employee with a second meal period of not less than 30 minutes, except that if the total hours worked is no more than 12 hours, the second meal period may be waived by mutual consent of the employer and the employee only if the first meal period was not waived.

(Lab. Code, § 512, subd. (a), emphasis added.) By its plain language, section 512 thus imposes on employers only the duty to “provide” meal periods. Nothing in the statutory text even hints at an additional obligation to ensure that employees take every meal period that is offered. Plaintiffs’ section 512 arguments, like their arguments as to section 226.7, are based on misconstructions of the statute’s actual language.

a) Plaintiffs’ attempts to circumvent the statute’s plain language

Plaintiffs urge this Court to ignore the straightforward provision that “[a]n employer may not employ an employee for a work period of more

than five hours per day without *providing* the employee with a meal period” (Lab. Code, § 512, subd. (a), emphasis added), and hold instead that “[a]n employer may not employ an employee for a work period of more than five hours per day without *ensuring* that a meal period is taken.” This Court, however, cannot “change [a statute’s] scope by reading into it language it does not contain or by reading out of it language it does.” (*Vasquez v. State* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 243, 253, citing *Doe v. City of Los Angeles* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 531, 545 [“[A] court . . . may not rewrite the statute to conform to an assumed intention which does not appear from its language.”], internal quotations and citation omitted.)

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